

Energy conservation and dissipation properties for elastodynamics with contact impact and friction

Vincent Acary, Nicholas Anton Collins-Craft

▶ To cite this version:

Vincent Acary, Nicholas Anton Collins-Craft. Energy conservation and dissipation properties for elastodynamics with contact impact and friction. 2023. hal-04230941v1

HAL Id: hal-04230941 https://inria.hal.science/hal-04230941v1

Preprint submitted on 6 Oct 2023 (v1), last revised 26 Apr 2024 (v3)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Energy conservation and dissipation properties for elastodynamics with contact impact and friction

Vincent Acary* and Nicholas Anton Collins-Craft[†]

October 6, 2023

Keywords contact dynamics, impact, computational contact mechanics, numerical time integration, energy conservation, dissipation properties

Abstract The objective of this paper is to propose a time integration scheme for nonsmooth mechanical systems involving one-sided contact, impact and Coulomb friction, that respects the principles of discrete-time energy balance with positive dissipation. To obtain energetic consistency in the continuous time model, we work with an impact law inspired by the work of M. Frémond (Frémond, 2001, 2002, 2017) which ensures that dissipation is positive, *i.e.* that the Clausius–Duhem inequality is satisfied. On this basis, we propose a time integration method based on the Moreau–Jean scheme (Jean and Moreau, 1987; Moreau, 1988) and show that this method has correct dissipation properties.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction and motivations	2
2	Nonsmooth mechanical systems with unilateral contact, Coulomb's friction and impact		2
	2.1	Smooth equations of motion for linear viscoelasticity and constitutive laws	2
	2.2	Nonsmooth dynamics	5
	2.3	Energy balance analysis	6
	2.4	Frémond's model of frictional impact	7
3	A new time-stepping scheme with dissipation properties		8
	3.1	Flaws in the standard Moreau–Jean scheme in the frictional case	8
	3.2	Principles of the proposed scheme	9
	3.3	Discrete dissipation properties and energy balance	10
4	Con	nclusion	11

^{*}Centre Inria de l'Université Grenoble Alpes, 655 avenue de l'Europe, 38330 Montbonnot, France.

[†]Centre Inria de l'Université Grenoble Alpes, 655 avenue de l'Europe, 38330 Montbonnot, France.

Notation The following notation is used throughout the paper. The Euclidean norm for a vector $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is denoted by ||x||. For two vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Hadamard product is denoted by $x \circ y$. For a positive definite (respectively positive semi-definite) matrix $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $||x||_M$ denotes the norm (respectively the semi-norm) in the metric defined by M. Let I denote a real time interval of any sort. For a function $f:I \to \mathbb{R}^n$ of Bounded Variation (BV), we denote the right-limit function by $f^+(t)=\lim_{s \to t, s > t} f(s)$, and respectively the left-limit by $f^-(t) = \lim_{s \to t, s < t} f(s)$. We denote by $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_k <$ $t_N = T$ a finite partition (or a subdivision) of the time interval [0,T], where (T>0). The integer N is the number of time intervals in the subdivision. The length of a time step is denoted by $h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k$. For simplicity's sake, the schemes are presented in the following with a time step denoted by h for short. The value of a real function x(t) at the time t_k , is approximated by x_k . In the same way, the notation $x_{k+\theta} = (1-\theta)x_k + \theta x_{k+1}$ is used for $\theta \in [0,1]$. The notation dt defines the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} .

1 Introduction and motivations

The objective of this paper is to propose a time integration scheme for nonsmooth mechanical systems involving one-sided contact, impact and Coulomb friction, that respects the principles of discrete-time energy balance with positive dissipation. For simplicity, we consider systems that have been spatially discretised (by the finite element method (FEM) for example), and that have dynamics that are linear, but with possible nonlinear constraints that model contact. The question of developing a consistent integration scheme with correct energy and dissipation properties implies that the continuous-time model also has these properties. It is known that discrete systems with Coulomb friction and a kinematic impact law can generate energy, in particular, when the direction of sliding velocity changes during impact (Brogliato, 2016; Glocker, 2013). In this work, we therefore propose to work with an impact law inspired by the work of M. Frémond (Frémond, 2001, 2002, 2017) which ensures that dissipation is positive, i.e. that the Clausius-Duhem inequality (and therefore the second law of thermodynamics) is satisfied. On this basis, we propose a time integration method based on the Moreau-Jean scheme (Jean and Moreau, 1987; Moreau, 1988) and show that this method has good dissipation properties.

Much work in the literature has focused on conservative or energy-dissipating time integration schemes for frictionless one-sided contact systems. These studies are mainly interested in this property because it confers stability properties to the schemes, which are often difficult to obtain. For a review of the literature, please refer to Acary (2016). On the other hand, there is very little work on contact with Coulomb friction. This may be due to the inherent difficulty of Coulomb friction for discrete systems that exhibit impulses. It is well known that the Coulomb friction model in percussion can be inconsistent.

The structure of the article is as follows. We begin in Section 2 by presenting the equations of motion of a discrete system with one-sided constraints, Coulomb friction and impacts. After a discussion of the energy balance of the system, we find that the system with Newton's law of impact and Coulomb friction can be non-dissipative. Finally, we propose an impact model inspired by the work of Frémond which guarantees that the system is dissipative. In Section 3, we propose a new scheme that is dissipative in discrete time, with dissipative terms that are numerical approximations of frictional and impact dissipation. Section 4 conclude the article and lists some perspectives.

Nonsmooth mechanical systems with unilateral contact, Coulomb's friction and impact

Smooth equations of motion for linear viscoelasticity and constitutive laws

The equations of motion of a discrete or discretised Lagrangian mechanical system in the linear viscoelastic case are

$$\begin{cases} q(t_0) = q_0, \ v(t_0) = v_0, \\ \dot{q}(t) = v(t), \\ M\dot{v}(t) + Kq(t) + Cv(t) = F(t) + R(t) \end{cases}$$
 (1a)
$$(1b)$$

$$(1c)$$

$$M\dot{v}(t) + Kq(t) + Cv(t) = F(t) + R(t) \tag{1c}$$

where $q(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the vector of generalised coordinates and $v(t) = \dot{q}(t)$ is the corresponding vector of generalised velocities, the initial conditions are $q_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $v_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is the symmetric mass matrix that is assumed to be positive definite, $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is the positive semi-definite stiffness matrix and $C \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ the positive semi-definite damping matrix, F(t) is the vector of external applied forces and R(t) is the generalised contact forces. The system is now subjected to a finite set of m unilateral contact that defines the admissible set for the configuration

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ q \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid g_{N}^{\alpha}(q) \geqslant 0, \alpha \in [1, m] \} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (2)

where $g_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}:\mathbb{R}^n\to\mathbb{R}$ is assumed to smooth function with non-vanishing gradients. We denote by the function $g_{\scriptscriptstyle N}:\mathbb{R}^n\to\mathbb{R}^m$ the function with $g_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}$ as components. For the perfect unilateral constraints, the Signorini condition is written as

$$0 \leqslant g_{N}(q(t)) \perp \lambda(t) \geqslant 0, \tag{3}$$

where the inequalities involving vectors are understood to hold component-wise and the \bot symbol means that $y^\top \lambda = 0$. The Lagrange multiplier λ is related to the generalised reaction forces R by

$$R(t) = \nabla_q g_{\rm N}(q(t))\lambda(t). \tag{4}$$

The Signorini condition at the velocity level can be also be defined as

$$0 \leqslant u_{N}(t) \perp \lambda(t) \geqslant 0$$
, if $g_{N}(q(t)) \leqslant 0$. (5)

where the local relative velocity $u_{\rm N}(t)$ is defined by

$$u_{\mathsf{N}}(t) = \dot{g}(q(t)) = \nabla_{q}^{\mathsf{T}} g_{\mathsf{N}}(q(t)) v(t), \qquad R(t) = G_{\mathsf{N}}(q) \lambda(t). \tag{6}$$

The Moreau's viability Lemma ensures that (5) implies (3).

Coulomb's friction For Coulomb's friction, the definition of the gradients of the constraints is not sufficient and an orthonormal local basis $(\mathbf{n}^{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}_{1}^{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}_{2}^{\alpha})$ at contact composed of the inward normal vector $n^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^{3}$ to set \mathcal{C} co-linear to the $\nabla_{q}^{\top}g_{N}^{\alpha}$ and the tangential vectors $\mathbf{t}_{1}^{\alpha}, \mathbf{t}_{2}^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^{3}$ is needed. For a contact α , the relative velocity and the reaction force r at contact are denoted in this local contact frame as

$$u^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{\rm N}^{\alpha} \\ u_{\rm T}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \quad r^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} r_{\rm N}^{\alpha} \\ r_{\rm T}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{7}$$

where $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha}\in\mathbb{R},\,u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha}=\begin{pmatrix} u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T_1}^{\alpha},\quad u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T_2}^{\alpha}\end{pmatrix}^{\top}\in\mathbb{R}^2,\,r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha}\in\mathbb{R},\,r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha}=\begin{pmatrix} r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T_1}^{\alpha},\quad r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T_2}^{\alpha}\end{pmatrix}^{\top}\in\mathbb{R}^2.$ The local variables are are related to the generalised variables by

$$u^{\alpha} = H^{\alpha, \top}(q) v, \qquad R^{\alpha} = H^{\alpha}(q) r^{\alpha}.$$
 (8)

Coulomb's friction together with the Signorini at the velocity level is given by

$$-\tilde{u}^{\alpha} \in N_{K^{\alpha}}(r^{\alpha}), \quad \text{if } g_{N}^{\alpha}(q) \leqslant 0, \text{ else } r^{\alpha} = 0$$
 (9)

where \tilde{u} is the modified De Saxcé velocity expressed as

$$\tilde{u}^{\alpha} = u^{\alpha} + \begin{pmatrix} \mu \| u_{\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha} \| \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{10}$$

and K^{α} is the Coulomb's cone

$$K^{\alpha} = \{r, \|r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| \leqslant \mu^{\alpha} r_{\scriptscriptstyle N}\},\tag{11}$$

with $\mu^{\alpha} \geqslant 0$ the friction coefficient.

Let $\mathcal{I}=[\![1,m]\!]\in\mathbb{N}$ be the set of indices of constraints. Let us define now the index of constraint at the velocity level by

$$\mathcal{I}^1 = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{I} \mid g_N^\alpha(q(t)) \leqslant 0 \}. \tag{12}$$

By collecting all the variables for each contact in the set \mathcal{I}^1 , and implicitly introducing the notation dropping α ($x = [x^{\alpha, \top}, \alpha \in \mathcal{I}^1]^{\top}$), we get for the frictional contacts

$$-\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{N}_K(r),\tag{13}$$

considering that $r^{\alpha}=0$ for $\alpha \notin \mathcal{I}^1$ and K is the Cartesian product of the cone K^{α} . Using the dual cone of K denoted as

$$K^* = \{u, \mu \| u_{\mathsf{T}} \| \leqslant u_{\mathsf{N}} \} \tag{14}$$

the relation (13) can be written as

$$-r \in \mathcal{N}_{K^*}(\tilde{u}). \tag{15}$$

or as a complementarity condition

$$K^* \ni \tilde{u} \perp r \in K. \tag{16}$$

To be self-contained, the equivalence with the standard form of the Coulomb friction in given in the following Lemma 1.

Lemma 1 ((Acary et al., 2011)) For one contact point, the Coulomb's friction law with the Signorini condition at the velocity level given the three following conditions

$$\begin{cases} either & r = 0, & u_{\scriptscriptstyle N} \geqslant 0 & (take\text{-off}) \\ or & u = 0, & \|r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| \leqslant \mu r_n & (sticking) \\ or & \|r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| = \mu r_n, u_{\scriptscriptstyle N} = 0 & \|u_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| r_{\scriptscriptstyle T} = -\|r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| u_{\scriptscriptstyle T} & (sliding) \end{cases}$$
(17)

is equivalent to the complementarity problem

$$K^* \ni \tilde{u} \perp r \in K \tag{18}$$

with

$$\tilde{u} = u + \begin{pmatrix} \mu \|u_T\| \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{19}$$

Proof. (\Longrightarrow) The conditions (17) implies that $r \in K$ and $u_N \geqslant 0$. Then $\tilde{u}_n \geqslant \mu \|u_T\|$ and we conclude that $\tilde{u} \in K^*$. If u = 0, then $\tilde{u} = 0$ and the relation $\tilde{u}^T r = 0$ holds trivially. The same applies for r = 0. In the sliding case, we have

$$\tilde{u}^{\top} r = (u_{N} + \mu \| u_{T} \|) r_{N} + u_{T}^{\top} r_{T}
= u_{N} r_{N} + \mu \| u_{T} \| r_{N} + u_{T}^{\top} r_{T}
= \| u_{T} \| \| r_{T} \| + u_{T}^{\top} r_{T} \text{ since } u_{N} = 0 \text{ and } \mu r_{N} = \| r_{T} \|$$
(20)

Since $||u_{\text{\tiny T}}||r_{\text{\tiny T}}=-||r_{\text{\tiny T}}||u_{\text{\tiny T}}$, the vector $u_{\text{\tiny T}}$ and $r_{\text{\tiny T}}$ are collinear and opposite direction, we have $u_{\text{\tiny T}}^{\top}r_{\text{\tiny T}}=$ $-\|u_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{T}}\|\|r_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{T}}\|$ and hence $\tilde{u}^{\top}r=0$.

(\iff) Conversely, if (18) holds, we have three separate cases:

- 1. r=0. The relation $\tilde{u}\in K^*$. This implies $u_N\geqslant 0$. We have the take-off case.
- 2. $\tilde{u} = 0$. This implies u = 0 and we have $r \in K$. We have the sticking case.
- 3. $\tilde{u} \neq 0$ and $r \neq 0$. Using $\tilde{u} \in K^*$ and $r \in K$, we get

$$\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}\| \|r_{\mathsf{T}}\| \leqslant \mu \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{N}} r_{\mathsf{N}} \tag{21}$$

The relation $\tilde{u}^{\top}r=0$ implies $\tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}=-\tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\top}r_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}$ so we get

$$\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}\| \|r_{\mathsf{T}}\| \leqslant -\mu \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}^{\mathsf{T}} r_{\mathsf{T}} \tag{22}$$

The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality gives

$$\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}\| \|r_{\mathsf{T}}\| \geqslant -\mu \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}^{\mathsf{T}} r_{\mathsf{T}} \tag{23}$$

so we conclude that

$$\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}\| \|r_{\mathsf{T}}\| = -\mu \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}^{\mathsf{T}} r_{\mathsf{T}} \tag{24}$$

When $\mu \neq 0$, the vector \tilde{u}_{T} and r_{T} collinear and opposite direction since the Cauchy-Schawarz inequality is an equality. Let us assume that $r \in \text{int}(K)$, then $||r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}|| < \mu r_{\scriptscriptstyle N}$. Since $u \in K^*$, we have

$$\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}\| \|r_{\mathsf{T}}\| < \mu r_{\mathsf{N}} \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{N}} = -\mu \tilde{u}_{\mathsf{T}}^{\top} r_{\mathsf{T}} \tag{25}$$

which contradicts (24). Hence, we conclude $r \in \partial K$ and hence $||r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}|| = \mu r_{\scriptscriptstyle N}$. Let us assume that $\tilde{u} \in \text{int}(K^*)$, then $\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| < \tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle N}$. Since $r \in K$, $\mu \|\tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| \|r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}\| < \mu r_{\scriptscriptstyle N} \tilde{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle N}$ contradicts (24). Hence, we conclude $\tilde{u} \in \partial K^*$. From $\tilde{u} \in \partial K^*$, we conclude that $u_{\scriptscriptstyle N} = 0$.

Smooth dynamics with Coulomb's friction For the sake of simplicity, we note by

$$-\tilde{u} = \Phi(u) \tag{26}$$

the De Saxcé changes of variable defined in (10) for a contact α . The smooth dynamics with Coulomb friction is then given by

$$f(q(t_0) = q_0, v(t_0) = v_0,$$
 (27a)

$$\begin{cases} q(t_0) = q_0, \ v(t_0) = v_0, \\ \dot{q}(t) = v(t), \\ M\dot{v}(t) + Kq(t) + Cv(t) = F_{\rm ext}(t) + H(q(t))r(t) \\ u(t) = H^{\top}(q(t))v(t) \\ -\Phi(u) \in \mathcal{N}_K(r), \end{cases} \tag{27a}$$

$$M\dot{v}(t) + Kq(t) + Cv(t) = F_{\text{ext}}(t) + H(q(t))r(t)$$
 (27c)

$$u(t) = H^{\perp}(q(t))v(t) \tag{27d}$$

$$-\Phi(u) \in \mathcal{N}_K(r),\tag{27e}$$

2.2 Nonsmooth dynamics

If a contact α is closing at time t_i with a negative relative velocity, that is $g_N^{\alpha}(q(t_i)) = 0$ and $u_N^{\alpha}(t_i) < 0$, we have an impact at t_i . The velocity must jump to satisfy the unilateral constraint right after the impact $g_{\rm N}^{\alpha}(q(t_i+\varepsilon))\geqslant 0, \varepsilon>0$. The velocity v is usually assumed to be a function of bounded variations. The same applies for the relative velocity at contact. With finite dimensional systems, the smooth dynamics (27) is generally not sufficient to characterize the solution (infinitely many solutions after impacts). To close the system at the impact time t_i when $v^+(t_i) \neq v^-(t_i)$, an impact law must be added. In this work, we consider the Newton's impact law:

$$u_{N}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) = -e^{\alpha} u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}) \text{ if } g_{N}^{\alpha}(q(t_{i})) \leq 0 \text{ and } u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}) \leq 0,$$
 (28)

where $e^{\alpha} \in [0,1]$ is the Newton coefficient of restitution. To address the case of multiple contacts, the Newton impact law is written in terms of complementarity as

$$0 \leqslant u_{N}^{\alpha,+}(t_i) + e^{\alpha} u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_i) \perp p_i^{\alpha} \geqslant 0, \text{ if } \alpha \in \bar{\mathcal{I}}^1,$$
(29)

where p_i is the reaction impulse at time t_i and $\bar{\mathcal{I}}^1$ is the index set defined by

$$\bar{\mathcal{I}}^1 = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{I} \mid g_{N}^{\alpha}(q(t)) \leqslant 0 \text{ and } u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t) \leqslant 0 \}.$$

$$(30)$$

In the sequel, we will assume that the local variables at contact are collected for all indices belonging to

The nonsmooth equations of motion are written in terms of differential measure dv associated with vand the local impulse measure di as follows

$$\begin{cases} q(t_0) = q_0, \ v^-(t_0) = v_0, \\ \dot{q} = v, \\ M \, \mathrm{d}v + Kq \, \mathrm{d}t + Cv \, \mathrm{d}t = F \, \mathrm{d}t + H(q) \, \mathrm{d}i, \\ u = H^\top(q)v, \\ -\Psi(u^+) \in \mathrm{N}_K(di). \end{cases}$$
(31a)

$$\dot{q} = v, \tag{31b}$$

$$M \, \mathrm{d}v + Kq \, \mathrm{d}t + Cv \, \mathrm{d}t = F \, \mathrm{d}t + H(q) \, \mathrm{d}i, \tag{31c}$$

$$u = H^{\top}(q)v, \tag{31d}$$

$$-\Psi(u^+) \in \mathcal{N}_K(di),\tag{31e}$$

with the definition of the following function that takes into account the impact law (29)

$$\Psi^{\alpha}(u^{\alpha}) = u^{\alpha} + \begin{pmatrix} \mu \|u_{_{\rm T}}^{\alpha}\| + e^{\alpha}u_{_{\rm N}}^{\alpha,-} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{32}$$

Interpretation of the contact law (31e) in terms of measures. The equation (31e) deserves some explanations based on the definition of an normal cone inclusion with measures. Almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure dt, we have

$$-\Psi(u^+) \in \mathcal{N}_K(r),\tag{33}$$

where r is the density of di with respect to dt. Since we have $u^- = u^+ = u$ almost everywhere, the relation (33) can be written for a contact α as

$$\bar{u}^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 + e^{\alpha})u_{N}^{\alpha} + \mu \|u_{T}^{\alpha}\| \\ u_{T}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \in N_{K^{\alpha}}(r^{\alpha}), \tag{34}$$

Three cases are possible following the proof of the Lemma 1:

- 1. take-off case: $r^{\alpha} = 0$. In that case, we have $u_{N}^{\alpha} \geqslant 0$.
- 2. sticking case: $\bar{u}^{\alpha}=0$. In that case, we have $u_{\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha}=0$ and $(1+e^{\alpha})u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}=0=u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}$ and $r^{\alpha}\in K^{\alpha}$.
- 3. sliding case: $r^{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\bar{u}^{\alpha} \neq 0$. Then we have $r^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha}$ and $\bar{u}^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha,*}$. This implies $(1+e)u_{_{\rm N}}^{\alpha}=0=u_{_{\rm N}}^{\alpha}, \|r_{_{\rm T}}\|=\mu r_n$ and $\|u_{_{\rm T}}\|r_{_{\rm T}}=-\|r_{_{\rm T}}\|u_{_{\rm T}}$.

To conclude, we retrieve almost everywhere the Coulomb's friction with the Signorini condition at the velocity level. At any time t_i , we have

$$-\Psi(u^+) \in \mathcal{N}_K(p_i),\tag{35}$$

where p_i is the density of di with respect to the Dirac atom at t_i , δ_{t_i} . We have again three possible cases for a contact α

- 1. take-off case: $p_i^{\alpha} = 0$. In that case, we have $u_N^{\alpha,+} + e u_N^{\alpha,-} \ge 0$.
- 2. sticking case: $\Psi(u^{\alpha,+})=0$. In that case, we have $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha,+}=0$ and $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,+}+eu_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-}=0$ and $p_i^\alpha\in K^\alpha$. The impact law is satisfied since $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,+}=-eu_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-}$
- 3. sliding case: $p_i^{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\Psi(u^{\alpha,+}) \neq 0$. Then we have $p_i^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha}$ and $\Psi(u^{\alpha,+}) \in \partial K^{\alpha,*}$. This implies $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,+} + e u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-} = 0$, $\|p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha}\| = \mu p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha}$ and $\|u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha,+}\| p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha} = -\|p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha}\| u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}^{\alpha,+}$.

To conclude, the impact law is satisfied in sticking and sliding case and the Coulomb's friction is written in terms of impulses and of the right limit of the relative velocity. We will see in the sequel that is has an consequence on the dissipativity of the model.

2.3 Energy balance analysis

A detailed analysis of the energy balance for nonsmooth systems can be found in Lozano et al. (2013) and Leine and Wouw (2008). The energy balance is usually obtained by multiplying the equation of motion by $v^+ + v^-$. After some algebraic manipulations (see Acary (2016)), we obtain

$$2d\mathcal{E} := d(v^{\top}Mv) + 2q^{\top}Kdq = 2v^{\top}F dt - 2v^{\top}Cv dt + (v^{+} + v^{-})^{\top}H(q)di,$$
(36)

where the standard definition of the total mechanical energy of the system is

$$\mathcal{E} := \frac{1}{2} v^{\mathsf{T}} M v + \frac{1}{2} q^{\mathsf{T}} K q, \tag{37}$$

and $dq = v^+(t) dt = v^-(t) dt$.

Energy balance almost everywhere Almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure dt, the energy balance (36) reads as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}(t) = v^{\top}(t)F(t) - v^{\top}(t)Cv(t) + v^{\top}(t)H(q(t))r(t), \tag{38}$$

which is the classical energy balance for a smooth dynamical system subjected to some constraints. The term $v^{\top}F$ is the power of external forces and $-v^{\top}Cv$ is the power of viscous forces. The last term corresponds to the power of reaction forces. For a contact α , it can be decomposed as

$$v^{\mathsf{T}} H^{\alpha}(q) r^{\alpha} = u^{\alpha, \mathsf{T}} r^{\alpha} = u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha} r_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha} + u_{\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha, \mathsf{T}} r_{\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha}. \tag{39}$$

As we assumed that the constitutive law (33) is satisfied almost everywhere, an examination of the three possibles cases for the contact law yields

$$v^{\top} H^{\alpha}(q) r^{\alpha} = -\mu^{\alpha} r_{N}^{\alpha} \| u_{T}^{\alpha} \|, \tag{40}$$

which the standard dissipated power by a sliding contact with Coulomb friction. Note that the dissipated power is always non-positive, which is consistent with the principles of thermodynamics.

Energy balance at any time At any time t_i , the energy balance (36) reads as

$$\mathcal{E}^{+}(t_i) - \mathcal{E}^{-}(t_i) = \frac{1}{2} (v^{+}(t_i) + v^{-}(t_i))^{\top} H(q(t_i)) p_i.$$
(41)

For a contact α , it can be evaluated as

$$\frac{1}{2}(v^{+}(t_i) + v^{-}(t_i))^{\top} H^{\alpha}(q(t_i)) p_i^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} (u^{\alpha,+}(t_i) + u^{\alpha,-}(t_i))^{\top} p_i^{\alpha}.$$
(42)

With the constitutive law given by (33), the dissipated power in (42) vanishes in the take-off case. In the sticking case, the sliding velocity vanishes and we get

$$\frac{1}{2}(v^{+}(t_{i}) + v^{-}(t_{i}))^{\top}H^{\alpha}(q(t_{i}))p_{i}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}(u_{N}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) + u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))p_{N,i}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})p_{T,i}^{\alpha}
= \frac{1}{2}(1 - e)u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})p_{N,i}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})p_{T,i}^{\alpha}.$$
(43)

Since $u_N^{\alpha,-}(t_i) \leq 0$ and $e \in [0,1]$, the first term of the dissipated power by an impact is non-positive, but we cannot conclude a priori on the sign of the second term. In the sliding case, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}(v^{+}(t_{i}) + v^{-}(t_{i}))^{\top}H^{\alpha}(q(t_{i}))p_{i}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - e)u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))p_{N,i}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) + u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))^{\top}p_{T,i}^{\alpha} \\
= \frac{1}{2}(1 - e)u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))p_{N,i}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\mu^{\alpha}p_{N,i}^{\alpha}||u_{T}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i})|| + \frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))^{\top}p_{T,i}^{\alpha} \tag{44}$$

The first two terms in (44) are non-positive. For the last terms, we cannot conclude a priori on its sign. For instance, if there is a reversal of the sliding direction during the impact, $u_{\rm T}^{\alpha,-}(t_i)=-u_{\rm T}^{\alpha,-}(t_i)$, the power of the frictional impulse may generate energy. In other words, the coulomb's law in terms of impulses together with the Newton's impact is not dissipative and does not respect the second principle of thermodynamics.

The fact is not new. The famous Kane (1984) example (see also Brogliato (2016) and Glocker (2013)) shows that some amount of energy can be generated using such type of law. For our purpose, it seems to be difficult to propose a consistent numerical scheme that dissipates energy based on such a law.

2.4 Frémond's model of frictional impact

To obtain a constitutive law that is consistent with the thermodynamics and the Newton's impact law, we propose to use

$$-\Xi\left(\frac{1}{2}(u^{+}+u^{-})\right) \in N_{K}(\mathrm{d}i) \tag{45}$$

with

$$\Xi^{\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{2}(u^{\alpha,+} + u^{\alpha,-})\right) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(u_{N}^{\alpha,+} + u_{N}^{\alpha,-}) + \frac{1}{2}(e^{\alpha} - 1)u_{N}^{\alpha,-} + \mu^{\alpha} \|\frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,+} + u_{T}^{\alpha,-})\| \\ \frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,+} + u_{T}^{\alpha,-}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(46)

or

$$\Xi^{\alpha}(u^{\alpha}) = \begin{pmatrix} u_{N}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}(e^{\alpha} - 1)u_{N}^{\alpha, -} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T}^{\alpha}\| \\ u_{T}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$
(47)

This law is inspired by the energy balance (42) and the work of Frémond Frémond, 2001, 2002, 2017. We will called the Frémond's model in the sequel. Let us show that the Frémond always dissipates energy

Lemma 2 The Frémond's model of contact, impact and friction given by (45) and (46) satisfies the dissipation inequality, that is

$$(v^+ + v^-)^\top H(q) \, \mathrm{d}i \leqslant 0.$$
 (48)

Proof. Almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure dt, we have $u^+ = u^- = u$ the constitutive law (45) reduces to

$$-\left(\frac{1}{2}(1+e^{\alpha})u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}+\mu^{\alpha}\|u_{\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha}\|\right)\in N_K(r). \tag{49}$$

The three possible cases of (49) coincide with those of (33). In other words, the law in (45) is identical for the smooth dynamics to the standard Coulomb's law with the Signorini condition at the velocity level given by (33). At any time t_i , we obtain

$$-\Xi\left(\frac{1}{2}(u^{+}(t_i) + u^{-}(t_i))\right) \in N_K(p_i).$$
(50)

To be explicit, let us examine the three possible cases for a contact α :

- 1. take-off case: $p_i^{\alpha}=0$. In that case, we have $\frac{1}{2}(u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,+}+u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-})+\frac{1}{2}(e^{\alpha}-1)u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-}\geqslant 0$ that is $u_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,+}+eu_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}^{\alpha,-}\geqslant 0$.
- 2. sticking case: $\Xi(\frac{1}{2}(u^{\alpha,+}(t_i)+u^{\alpha,-}(t_i)))=0$. In that case, we have $\frac{1}{2}(u^{\alpha,+}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}+u^{\alpha,-}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T})=0$ and $u^{\alpha,+}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}+eu^{\alpha,-}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}=0$ and $p^{\alpha}_i\in K^{\alpha}$. The impact law is satisfied since $u^{\alpha,+}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}=-eu^{\alpha,-}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N}$. Note that in the sticking case, we have $u^{\alpha,+}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}=-u^{\alpha,-}_{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T}$. Only the velocity average over the time of impact vanishes.
- 3. sliding case: $p_i^{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\Xi(\frac{1}{2}(u^{\alpha,+}(t_i) + u^{\alpha,-}(t_i))) \neq 0$. Then we have $p_i^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha}$ and $\Xi(\frac{1}{2}(u^{\alpha,+}(t_i) + u^{\alpha,-}(t_i))) \in \partial K^{\alpha,*}$. This implies $u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha,+} + e u_{\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha,-} = 0$, $\|p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha}\| = \mu p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle N}^{\alpha}$ and $\|\frac{1}{2}(u^+(t_i) + u^-(t_i))\|p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha} = -\|p_{i,\scriptscriptstyle T}^{\alpha}\|\frac{1}{2}(u^+(t_i) + u^-(t_i))$.

In the take-off case, the impulse p_i vanishes there the dissipated power vanishes. In the sliding case, we

$$\frac{1}{2}(v^{+}(t_{i}) + v^{-}(t_{i}))^{\top} H^{\alpha}(q(t_{i})) p_{i}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}(u_{N}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) + u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})) p_{N,i}^{\alpha}
= \frac{1}{2}(1 - e) u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}) p_{N,i}^{\alpha} \leq 0$$
(51)

since $\frac{1}{2}(u_{_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\alpha,+}(t_i)+u_{_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\alpha,-}(t_i))$ vanishes. Since $u_{_{\mathrm{N}}}^{\alpha,-}(t_i)\leqslant 0$ and $e\in[0,1]$, the dissipated power by an impact is non-positive. In the sliding case, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}(v^{+}(t_{i}) + v^{-}(t_{i}))^{\top}H^{\alpha}(q(t_{i}))p_{i}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - e)u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})p_{N,i}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) + u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))^{\top}p_{T,i}^{\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(1 - e)u_{N}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i})p_{N,i}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\mu^{\alpha}p_{N,i}^{\alpha}\|\frac{1}{2}(u_{T}^{\alpha,+}(t_{i}) + u_{T}^{\alpha,-}(t_{i}))\| \leq 0.$$
(52)

We conclude that the dissipated power related to the reaction forces is always non-negative. In other words, the model satisfies the principles of the thermodynamics at the impact time.

Remark 1 The model proposed by Frémond is not only consistent with the principles of thermodynamics, but has also been validated by experimental tests. In (Cholet, 1998; Frémond, 2001, 2002, 2017), we find experimental results showing that percussions belong to the Coulomb cone. Even more interestingly, these experimental tests also show that Coulomb's relationship between impact and velocity is valid for the averaged velocity $\frac{1}{2}(u^+(t_i) + u^-(t_i))$ and not for the velocity after impact $u^+(t_i)$.

3 A new time-stepping scheme with dissipation properties

Flaws in the standard Moreau-Jean scheme in the frictional case.

Formulation of the Moreau–Jean scheme The Moreau–Jean scheme (Jean, 1999; Jean and Moreau, 1987; Moreau, 1988) on an interval $(t_k, t_{k+1}]$ of length h is as follows

$$M(v_{k+1} - v_k) + hKq_{k+\theta} + hCv_{k+\theta} - hF_{k+\theta} = H(q_k)p_{k+1},$$
(53a)

$$q_{k+1} = q_k + h v_{k+\theta}, \tag{53b}$$

$$\begin{cases} M(v_{k+1} - v_k) + hKq_{k+\theta} + hCv_{k+\theta} - hF_{k+\theta} = H(q_k)p_{k+1}, & (53a) \\ q_{k+1} = q_k + hv_{k+\theta}, & (53b) \\ u_{k+1} = H^{\top}(q_k)v_{k+1}, & (53c) \\ -\Gamma(u_{k+1}) \in N_K(p_{k+1}) & (53d) \end{cases}$$

$$-\Gamma(u_{k+1}) \in \mathcal{N}_K(p_{k+1}) \tag{53d}$$

with $\theta \in [0, 1]$. The following approximations are considered:

$$v_{k+1} \approx v(t_{k+1}); \quad u_{k+1} \approx u^+(t_{k+1}); \quad p_{k+1} \approx \operatorname{di}((t_k, t_{k+1})),$$
 (54)

The index set $\bar{\mathcal{I}}^1$ is approximated at each time step by

$$\bar{\mathcal{I}}_k^1 = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{I} \mid g^{\alpha}(q_k + hv_k) \leqslant 0 \text{ and } U_k^{\alpha} \leqslant 0 \}.$$
 (55)

The discrete variables at contact are collected in the unknown variables u_{k+1} and p_{k+1} for the indices such that $\alpha \in \bar{\mathcal{I}}_k^1$.

Discrete dissipation analysis Following the Lemma 5.1 in Acary (2016), the discrete-time dissipation equality of the Moreau–Jean scheme (53) over a time-step $[t_k, t_{k+1}]$ is given by

$$\Delta \mathcal{E} - W_{k+1}^{\text{ext}} - W_{k+1}^{\text{damping}} = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \theta\right) \left[\|v_{k+1} - v_k\|_M^2 + \|q_{k+1} - q_k\|_K^2 \right] + u_{k+\theta}^{\mathsf{T}} p_{k+1}, \tag{56}$$

where the discrete approximation of the work done by the external forces within the step by

$$W_{k+1}^{\mathsf{ext}} = h v_{k+\theta}^{\mathsf{T}} F_{k+\theta} \approx \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} F v \, \, \mathrm{d}t, \tag{57}$$

and the discrete approximation of the work done by the damping term by

$$W_{k+1}^{\mathsf{damping}} = -hv_{k+\theta}^{\mathsf{T}} C v_{k+\theta} \approx -\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} v^T C v \, dt.$$
 (58)

To ensure that the scheme dissipates energy, the first condition is $\theta \geqslant \frac{1}{2}$. The second condition is related to the sign of the discrete work of the reaction impulse given by

$$u_{k+\theta}^{\top} p_{k+1} = u_{N,k+\theta}^{\top} p_{N,k+1} + u_{T,k+\theta}^{\top} p_{T,k+1}.$$
 (59)

For a contact α , the normal term $u_{{\rm N},k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{{\rm N},k+1}^{\alpha}$ vanishes in the take-off case, and is given by

$$u_{N,k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top} p_{N,k+1}^{\alpha} = (1 - \theta(1 + e^{\alpha})) u_{N,k}^{\alpha} p_{N,k+1}^{\alpha}$$
(60)

in the sliding and sticking cases. With the condition

$$\theta \leqslant \frac{1}{1 + e^{\alpha}} \leqslant 1$$
, for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$. (61)

we conclude that $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N},k+\theta}^{\top}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle \rm N},k+1}\leqslant 0$. For the frictional term, $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T},k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle \rm T},k+1}^{\alpha}$, we get

$$u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k+1}^{\alpha} = \theta u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k+1}^{\alpha,\top}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k+1}^{\alpha} + (1-\theta)u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k}^{\alpha,\top}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm T}},k+1}^{\alpha} \tag{62}$$

The first term is nonnegative but nothing can be said about the sign of the second term. We will see that on a simple example this term can positive and then the scheme will generate energy.

This fact is not really surprising. If we accept that the scheme is consistent and converges towards the continuous-time model, then we must converge towards a model that can generate energy. In practice, energy can be generated even by reducing the time steps to obtain a more accurate solution.

3.2 Principles of the proposed scheme

The following proposal for a new time-stepping scheme differs in the way the contact law is discretised to obtain contact dissipation that is always positive. The new Moreau-Jean time-stepping is defined as follows:

$$\int M(v_{k+1} - v_k) + hKq_{k+\theta} + hCv_{k+\theta} - hF_{k+\theta} = H(q_k)p_{k+1},$$
(63a)

$$q_{k+1} = q_k + hv_{k+\theta},\tag{63b}$$

$$\begin{cases} M(v_{k+1} - v_k) + hKq_{k+\theta} + hCv_{k+\theta} - hF_{k+\theta} = H(q_k)p_{k+1}, & (63a) \\ q_{k+1} = q_k + hv_{k+\theta}, & (63b) \\ u_{k+1} = H^{\top}(q_k)v_{k+1}, & (63c) \\ -\Theta(u_{k+\theta}) \in N_K(p_{k+1}) & (63d) \end{cases}$$

$$-\Theta(u_{k+\theta}) \in \mathcal{N}_K(p_{k+1}) \tag{63d}$$

with the function Θ as

$$\Theta^{\alpha}(u^{\alpha}) = u^{\alpha} + \begin{pmatrix} (\theta(1+e^{\alpha}) - 1)u_{N,k}^{\alpha} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T}^{\alpha}\| \\ 0 \\ 0. \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\tag{64}$$

Let us first details what is solved in the three possible cases of the contact law.

1. take-off case: $p_{k+1}^{\alpha} = 0$. In that case, we have

$$u_{N,k+\theta}^{\alpha} + (\theta(1+e^{\alpha}) - 1)u_{N,k}^{\alpha} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}\| \geqslant \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}\|$$

$$\tag{65}$$

that is

$$u_{\mathrm{N},k+1}^{\alpha} + e^{\alpha} u_{\mathrm{N},k}^{\alpha} \geqslant 0. \tag{66}$$

2. sticking case: $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha})=0$. In that case, we have $u_{\tau,k+\theta}^{\alpha}=0$ and

$$u_{N,k+\theta}^{\alpha} + (\theta(1+e^{\alpha}) - 1)u_{N,k}^{\alpha} = 0,$$
 (67)

that is

$$u_{N,k+1}^{\alpha} = -e^{\alpha} u_{N,k}^{\alpha} \tag{68}$$

3. sliding case: $p_{k+\theta}^{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha}) \neq 0$. Then we have $p_{k+\theta}^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha}$ and $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha}) \in \partial K^{\alpha,*}$. This implies

$$u_{N,k+\theta}^{\alpha} + (\theta(1+e^{\alpha}) - 1)u_{N,k}^{\alpha} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}\| = \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}\|$$
(69)

that is

$$u_{N k \perp \theta}^{\alpha} + (\theta(1 + e^{\alpha}) - 1)u_{N k}^{\alpha} = 0$$
(70)

and then

$$u_{N,k+1}^{\alpha} = -e^{\alpha} u_{N,k}^{\alpha}. \tag{71}$$

For the frictional part, we have

$$||p_{T,k+1}^{\alpha}|| = \mu p_{N,k+1}^{\alpha} \text{ and } ||u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}||p_{T,k+1}^{\alpha}| = -||p_{T,k+1}^{\alpha}||u_{T,k+\theta}^{\alpha}|.$$
 (72)

To summarize, the Newton impact law is written in a similar way as in the Moreau–Jean time-stepping scheme: for the normal part of the law, the pre-impact velocity it the velocity at the beginning pf the time-step $u_{{\rm N},k}^{\alpha}$ and the post-impact velocity is the velocity at the end of the time step $u_{{\rm N},k+1}^{\alpha}$. The Coulomb's friction law is written with the average velocity $u_{{\rm T},k+\theta}^{\alpha}$.

When $\theta = 1/2$, the function Θ^{α} simplifies in

$$\Theta^{\alpha}(u^{\alpha}) = u^{\alpha} + \left(u_{N}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}(e^{\alpha} - 1)u_{N,k}^{\alpha} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T}^{\alpha}\|\right)$$

$$u_{T}^{\alpha}.$$

$$(73)$$

and the discrete contact law is

$$-\Theta\left(\frac{1}{2}(u_{k+1}+u_k)\right) \in \mathcal{N}_K(p_{k+1}) \tag{74}$$

We can observe that the expression (73) is very similar to the expression of the function Ξ in (47). In practice, if the scheme converges, we can expect to approximate the Frémond impact law.

When $\theta = 1$, the function Θ^{α} is

$$\Theta^{\alpha}(u^{\alpha}) = u^{\alpha} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{N}^{\alpha} + e^{\alpha}u_{N,k}^{\alpha} + \mu^{\alpha} \|u_{T}^{\alpha}\| \\ u_{T}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} = \Gamma(u^{\alpha})$$
 (75)

and the discrete contact law is

$$-\Theta(u_{k+1}) = -\Gamma(u_{k+1}) \in \mathcal{N}_K(p_{k+1}) \tag{76}$$

We observe that the scheme if similar to the Moreau–Jean time-stepping for the case $\theta = 1$.

3.3 Discrete dissipation properties and energy balance

Let us give now a result concerning the dissipation of this new Moreau-Jean scheme.

Proposition 1 The new Moreau-Jean scheme dissipates energy in the sense that

$$\mathcal{E}(t_{k+1}) - \mathcal{E}(t_k) \leqslant W_{k+1}^{\text{ext}} + W_{k+1}^{\text{damping}},\tag{77}$$

if

$$\frac{1}{2} \leqslant \theta \leqslant \frac{1}{1+\bar{e}} \leqslant 1. \tag{78}$$

where $\bar{e} = \max \rho^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$.

In other words, providing that (78) is satisfied, the variation of the total mechanical energy of the system is always less than the energy supplied by the external and damping forces.

Proof The discrete-time dissipation equality of the new Moreau–Jean scheme (63) over a time-step $[t_k, t_{k+1}]$ is also given by (56). Obviously, we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{2} - \theta\right) \left[\|v_{k+1} - v_k\|_M^2 + \|q_{k+1} - q_k\|_K^2 \right] \le 0, \text{ if and only if } \theta \ge 1/2.$$
 (79)

It remains to prove that $u_{k+\theta}^{\top} p_{k+1} \leq 0$. Let us examine the three possible cases for a contact α :

- 1. take-off case: $p_{k+1}^{\alpha}=0.$ In that case, we have $u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{k+1}^{\alpha}=0.$
- 2. sticking case: $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha})=0$. In that case, we have $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm I}},k+\theta}^{\alpha}=0$ and then $u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{k+1}^{\alpha}=u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+\theta}^{\alpha}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+1}^{\alpha}$. From (67), we conclude that $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+\theta}^{\alpha}\leqslant 0$ since $\theta\leqslant \frac{1}{1+\bar{e^{\alpha}}}$ and $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k}^{\alpha}\leqslant 0$ and then $u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top}p_{k+1}^{\alpha}\leqslant 0$ since $p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+1}^{\alpha}\geqslant 0$.
- 3. sliding case: $p_{k+\theta}^{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha}) \neq 0$. Then we have $p_{k+\theta}^{\alpha} \in \partial K^{\alpha}$ and $\Theta^{\alpha}(u_{k+\theta}^{\alpha}) \in \partial K^{\alpha,*}$. From (70), we conclude that $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+\theta}^{\alpha} \leqslant 0$ since $\theta \leqslant \frac{1}{1+e^{\overline{\alpha}}}$ and $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k}^{\alpha} \leqslant 0$,, and then $u_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}}k+\theta}^{\alpha}p_{{\scriptscriptstyle {\rm N}},k+1}^{\alpha} \leqslant 0$. For the frictional part, we have from (72)

$$u_{\text{\tiny T},k+\theta}^{\alpha,\top} p_{\text{\tiny T},k+1}^{\alpha} = -\mu^{\alpha} p_{\text{\tiny N},k+1}^{\alpha} \| u_{\text{\tiny T},k+\theta}^{\alpha} \| \leqslant 0 \tag{80}$$

4 Conclusion

In this article, we propose

- to use the model of frictional contact with impact inspired by the work of Frémond, which we show is always dissipative,
- to modify Moreau-Jean's time integration method in order to approximate Frémond's model and we show that the scheme is dissipative in discrete time.

References

Brogliato, B. (2016). *Nonsmooth Mechanics: Models, Dynamics and Control.* 3nd. Communications and Control Engineering. London: Springer-Verlag.

Acary, Vincent (May 2016). "Energy conservation and dissipation properties of time-integration methods for nonsmooth elastodynamics with contact". In: Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics / Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik 96.5, pp. 585–603. DOI: 10.1002/zamm. 201400231. URL: https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01235240.

Acary, Vincent et al. (Feb. 2011). "A formulation of the linear discrete Coulomb friction problem via convex optimization". In: Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics / Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik 91.2, pp. 155–175. DOI: 10.1002/zamm.201000073. URL: https://inria.hal.science/inria-00495734.

Cholet, Catherine (1998). "Chocs de solides rigides". PhD thesis. Paris 6.

Frémond, Michel (2001). "Internal constraints in mechanics". In: *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 359.1789, pp. 2309–2326.

- (2002). Non-Smooth Thermomechanics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-04800-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007%2F978-3-662-04800-9.
- (2017). "The Theory: Mechanics. An Example: Collision of a Point and a Plane". In: Collisions Engineering: Theory and Applications, pp. 5–32.
- Glocker, Christoph (2013). "Energetic consistency conditions for standard impacts: Part I: Newton-type inequality impact laws and Kane's example". In: *Multibody System Dynamics* 29, pp. 77–117.
- Jean, M. (1999). "The Non Smooth Contact Dynamics Method". In: *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering* 177. Ed. by J.A.C. Martins and A. Klarbring. Special issue on computational modeling of contact and friction, J.A.C. Martins and A. Klarbring, editors, pp. 235–257.
- Jean, M. and J.J. Moreau (1987). "Dynamics in the presence of unilateral contacts and dry friction: a numerical approach". In: *Unilateral problems in structural analysis. II.* Ed. by G. Del Pietro and F. Maceri. CISM 304, Spinger Verlag, pp. 151–196.
- Kane, TR (1984). "A dynamics puzzle". In: Stanford Mechanics Alumni Club Newsletter 6, pp. 1-4.
- Leine, R. and N. van de Wouw (2008). *Stability and Convergence of Mechanical Systems with Unilateral Constraints*. Vol. 36. Lecture Notes in Applied and Computational Mechanics. Springer Verlag.
- Lozano, Rogelio et al. (2013). Dissipative systems analysis and control: theory and applications. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Moreau, J.J. (1988). "Unilateral contact and dry friction in finite freedom dynamics". In: *Nonsmooth Mechanics and Applications*. Ed. by J.J. Moreau and Panagiotopoulos P.D. CISM, Courses and lectures 302. Formulation mathematiques tire du livre Contacts mechanics. Wien- New York: CISM 302, Spinger Verlag, pp. 1–82.